IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA
	FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. SC02-1033
	4DCA CASE NO. 5D01
BELLSOUTH INC.,	TELECOMMUNICATIONS,
	Petitioner,
vs.	
LINDA MEEK	cs,
	Respondent/

JOHN R. HARGROVE, ESQUIRE HEINRICH GORDON HARGROVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. Attorneys for BellSouth Telecommunications 500 East Broward Boulevard Suite 1000 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394

Telephone: (954) 527-2800

3	LAVV
1	OFFICE
1	SOF
1	HEINRI
į	CH
1	GORDO
1	N
1	HARGR
1	OVE
1	WEIHE
	&
	JAMES,
	P.A. M
1	FORT
1	LAUDE
1	RDALE,
1	FLORID
	Α
1	33394-
1	3092
į

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Ι

THE CASE

The certified question before the Court relates to the measure of statutory loss of consortium damages recoverable by a minor child for the death of a parent under Florida's Wrongful Death Act.¹ Respondent's husband, Herbert Meeks, was electrocuted by downed Florida Power & Light ("FP&L") electric wires, which were suspended from a rotted-out pole under FP&L's

The damage statute itself, namely § 768.21, reads in relevant part:

All potential beneficiaries of a recovery for wrongful death, including the decedent's estate, shall be identified in the complaint, and their relationships to the decedent shall be alleged. Damages may be awarded as follows:

- (1) Each survivor may recover the value of lost support and services from the date of the decedent's injury to her or his death, with interest, and future loss of support and services from the date of death and reduced to present value. In evaluating loss of support and services, the survivor's relationship to the decedent, the amount of the decedent's probable net income available for distribution to the particular survivor, and the replacement value of the decedent's services to the survivor may be considered. In computing the duration of future losses, the joint life expectancies of the survivor and the decedent and the period of minority, in the case of healthy minor children, may be considered.
- (2) The surviving spouse may also recover for loss of the decedent's companionship and protection and for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury.
- (3) Minor children of the decedent, and all children of the decedent if there is no surviving spouse, may also recover for lost parental companionship, instruction and guidance and for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury.
- (4) Each parent of a deceased minor child may also recover for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury. Each parent of an adult child may also recover for mental pain and suffering if there are no other survivors.

(Emphasis added)

The Florida Wrongful Death Act is codified in <u>Florida</u>
<u>Statutes</u> §§ 768.16-27. The definitions statute, § 768.18, reads in relevant part:

^{(2) &}quot;Minor children" means children under 25 years of age, notwithstanding the age of majority.

exclusive use. The pole had been previously owned by petitioner BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC., but it was abandoned by BELLSOUTH in the early 1970's. No telephone lines whatsoever were on the pole at the time of its collapse.

Plaintiff originally sued both FP&L and BELLSOUTH, but FP&L settled for \$1,300,000.00. (R:1312) The sole liability theory as to BELLSOUTH turns on whether the passage of time (twenty four years between BELLSOUTH's abandonment and the accident in issue) shifted the legal duty to FP&L, who maintained exclusive use of the collapsed pole pursuant to a 1975 "Joint Use Agreement" between the two utilities.²

The decedent is survived by his wife and two children from a prior marriage -- a daughter who was 28 at the time of the accident and a son who was 24. (Slipsheet at 2) Because the Florida Wrongful Death Act defines a "minor" as a person under 25 years of age, see Florida Statutes § 768.18(2), the 24 year old son was one year short of his legal majority at the time of the occurrence. It is this remaining year of minority which triggered the certified question.

The case proceeded through discovery with the trial court eventually entering summary judgment in favor of BELLSOUTH on the basis that a bailment had occurred, thereby relieving

See discussion infra at pages 5-6.

BELLSOUTH of the duty to maintain or repair the abandoned pole. Prior to filing its summary judgment motion, however, BELLSOUTH moved to strike the adult daughter's claim and to limit the minor son's claim under the express terms of § 768.21(3). That section provides, inter alia, that in the event of the wrongful death of a parent, a minor child always has the right to recover loss of consortium damages, but an adult child's right to recover is totally eliminated if there is a surviving spouse. Because there was a surviving spouse, MEEKS conceded that under the express wording of § 768.21(3), the adult daughter had no claim. (R:1291) A dispute arose, however, regarding the measure of the minor's damages. BELLSOUTH asserted that § 768.21(3) limits the minor child's right to recover for the period of minority, while MEEKS claimed that a minor's damages would extend over the minor's entire life expectancy. The trial court agreed with BELLSOUTH's construction and so ruled. On appeal, the Fifth District reversed holding that a minor is entitled to recover for life. It stated:

[W]e find no basis in the provisions of section 768.21(3) that requires disparate treatment of minor children, adult children, or spouses who seek damages for mental pain

The trial court did not strike any part of Kevin Meeks' claim for lost support and services, which are recoverable under $\underline{Florida\ Statutes}\ \S\ 768.21(1)$, so that point was not an issue on appeal.

and suffering for the loss of a loved one. conclude, therefore, that damages recovered by a minor child pursuant to section 768.21(3) should be calculated based on the joint life expectancy of both the deceased parent and the child. Thus in the unobstructed case, bу limitations, the jury will have the ability to view through the prism of their life experiences the full measure of recompense due a son for the loss of his father.

We certify to the Florida Supreme Court the following question as one of great public importance:

ARE THE DAMAGES RECOVERABLE BY A MINOR CHILD PURSUANT TO SECTION 768.21(3), FLORIDA STATUTES LIMITED TO THE PERIOD OF MINORITY?

(Slipsheet at 14) Review was then sought in this Court.

ΙI

THE FACTS

There is no dispute in this case regarding the cause of death. Mr. Meeks was electrocuted when he came in contact with FP&L's wire which fell from a rotted-out pole exclusively used by FP&L. No BELLSOUTH lines or wires even existed on the downed pole, much less contributed in any way to the accident.

The collapsed pole was part of a line of fourteen poles installed in 1952. (R11:2041-42) While BELLSOUTH originally had telephone lines on the entire line of poles where the accident occurred, including the downed pole, it had removed all such lines in the early 1970's. (R1:73, R2:270, R5:1401, R10:1816,

1823-27, 1867) Shortly thereafter, and specifically in January of 1975, BELLSOUTH entered into a "Joint Use Agreement" with FP&L under which they would both use certain utility poles throughout the state for efficiency and mutual convenience. (R7:1164-89) The 20-page Agreement covered many issues from pole relocation and replacement to maintenance and abandonment. It also expressly contemplated that the parties could modify the terms through the course of their conduct. (R7:1184) While the agreement specified certain procedures for a formal abandonment of a jointly used pole, the undisputed evidence disclosed that it was not the practice of BELLSOUTH or FP&L to follow any formal procedures. (R4:713-14, R8:1555, R10:1867) In the case of BELLSOUTH, a pole was deemed abandoned if BELLSOUTH no longer maintained telephone wires on it. (R8:1541; R9:1706-10)

In this case, the record established that once BELLSOUTH removed all telephone lines from the downed pole, as well as from every other pole in the pole line, neither BELLSOUTH nor FP&L treated the downed pole or any other pole in the line as being "jointly" owned or used; that for over twenty years preceding the accident the only wires on the poles were FP&L electrical wires; and that only FP&L used the poles and replaced them as they became deteriorated. (R11:1980) Once a pole was abandoned, BELLSOUTH had no authority to connect, remove, relocate, change or modify any of them. (R7:1164-89) Given

Ι Δ\Λ/

these undisputed facts, the trial court found that a bailment had occurred and held as a matter of law that:

BellSouth owed no duty to the Plaintiff in this case, nor to the public at large, to maintain or repair the utility poles after it ceased its use of the poles, and turned the exclusive use over to Florida Power and Light.

(R11:2042) On appeal, the Fifth District found that the trial court erred in finding a bailment as a matter of law. The court said:

[T]here are material questions of fact as to whether a bailment relationship existed between BellSouth and FPL. ... Therefore, the trial court erred in entering summary judgment in favor of BellSouth on the bailment theory.

(Slipsheet at 7-8; footnote and citations omitted)

Having reversed the summary judgment on liability, the analysis then turned to the minor's damages. Noting in particular that a parent's right to recover for loss of a child is not measured by the child's minority under § 768.21(4),4 the court reasoned that there should be no such measure for the child's right to recover for loss of a parent. It therefore concluded that:

If the Legislature intended that a minor child's claim for lost parental consortium, after it vested, would end at a particular point, it could have easily inserted a

^{4 &}lt;u>See</u> note 1, <u>supra</u>.

limiting period in section 768.21(3), as it did in section 768.21(1). Since it did not, the obvious intent of the Legislature is that no such limitations period should be applied to section 768.21(3) claims.

(Slipsheet at 13)

On rehearing, BELLSOUTH contended that the decision gives much broader meaning to a minor's right to recover than the clear wording of the statute allows. Rehearing was denied, and discretionary review was then sought based upon the certified question.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Statutory construction presents a legal question and is therefore reviewed *de novo*. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Volusia County v.</u> Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P., 760 So. 2d 126, 130 (Fla. 2000).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In a wrongful death case where there is a surviving spouse, a minor's damages are limited to the period of minority by the plain and unambiguous language of the controlling statute, namely § 768.21(3). The right to recover beyond the period of minority exists only where there is no surviving spouse, in which case all children -- minor and adult children alike -- have vested recovery rights. In this case, the Fifth District evidently convinced itself that the legislature really did not intend to limit a minor's damages under § 768.21(3) to the

period of minority when there is a surviving spouse and improperly construed an otherwise clear statute to comport with what it deemed to be the equities of the situation. The reasoning in this Court's decision in Cruz v. Broward County School Board, 800 So. 2d 213 (Fla. 2001), is instructive if not totally dispositive. Cruz holds that while the scope of consortium damages may be judicially broadened, it is not appropriate for a court to broaden the definition of the class to be protected. That is a legislative function. The real point, however, is that no construction is necessary. Here "minor" means what it says. "Plain meaning" should prevail, and recovery should be so limited.

Because this Court has jurisdiction to determine the certified question, BELLSOUTH urges it to review the "duty" issue as well. The collapsed pole was abandoned by BELLSOUTH some 24 years prior to the incident, and the trial court correctly found that the record supported BELLSOUTH's position. The decedent was electrocuted by a downed FP&L wire which fell from a collapsed pole under the exclusive use and control of FP&L. Moreover, the decedent's estate has settled with FP&L for \$1.3 million so there is no uncompensated loss. Simply put, BELLSOUTH had no control over the premises, and the lapse of time eliminated any duty to third persons as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN STRIKING THE DAMAGE CLAIM OF THE DECEDENT'S MINOR CHILD

FOR THE PERIOD FOLLOWING HIS AGE OF MAJORITY

The "plain meaning" of § 768.21(3) limits a minor's damages where there is a surviving spouse. Kevin Meeks was 24 years old when his father died. Since there was a surviving spouse in this case, Kevin's wrongful death damages were limited by the clear wording of § 768.21(3), which states:

Minor children of the decedent, and all children of the decedent if there is no surviving spouse, may also recover for lost parental companionship, instruction, and guidance and for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury.

(Emphasis added) Based upon this clear wording, the trial court correctly limited Kevin Meeks' claim for lost parental companionship and for mental pain and suffering to the remaining period of his minority which, by statute, ended at age 25. See Florida Statutes § 768.18(2)(1997). Because there was a surviving spouse, Kevin Meeks had just short of a one-year measure of damage.

On appeal, the Fifth District determined that the statute was ambiguous and decided to interpret it, concluding that the minor's claim should extend for his entire life expectancy. Unfortunately, the court's erroneous decision creates dangerous

precedent throughout this state on a legislative enactment which it has inappropriately construed. First, the statute is clear so no judicial interpretation is necessary. And second, even if judicial interpretation were proper, the construction given to the statute expands a narrowly defined extension of the common law beyond permissible limits.

A. No Ambiguity.

Under § 768.21(3) a minor child may well have the measure minority, limited of damages extended beyond but that circumstance exists under the express wording of the statute only where there is no surviving spouse. Under that scenario, all children of the decedent are entitled to recover based upon full life expectancies, rather than the limitation of minority. But once there is a surviving spouse, as in this case, an adult child has no right of recovery, and a minor child's right is measured solely by the period of minority.

Citing to this Court's decision in <u>Donato v. American</u>

<u>Telephone & Telegraph Co.</u>, 767 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 2000), the

Fifth District correctly recited the maxim that "it is the

Regarding the duration of recovery, the Fifth District notes in its opinion that it "find[s] instructive the standard jury instructions promulgated by the Florida Supreme Court." Reliance on Standard Jury Instruction 6.6(g) is unavailing because it predates the "orphan" language added to § 768.21(3) in 1990. Moreover, standard jury instructions are not intended to change the substantive law controlling in any case. Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. Fruchter, 283 So. 2d 36 (Fla. 1973).

intent of the Legislature which is the polestar that guides us in our inquiry." (Slipsheet at 10) Having said that, however, the Fifth District goes on to ignore the teaching of <u>Donato</u> -- that legislative intent is best determined from the language of the statute itself, so when language is clear the interpretative function stops. In the Court's own words:

[T]he primary source for determining legislative intent is the language chosen by the Legislature to express its intent. As we stated in <u>Holly v. Auld</u>, 450 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1984),

[w]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning.

<u>Id.</u> at 219 (quoting <u>A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey</u>, 102 Fla. 1141, 1144, 137 So. 157, 159 (1931)). More importantly, we are precluded from construing

an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications. To do so would be an abrogation of legislative power.

Id. (quoting American Bankers Life Assurance
Co. v. Williams, 212 So. 2d 777, 778 (Fla.
1st DCA 1968)).

<u>Donato</u>, 767 So. 2d at 1150-51; <u>see also United States v. Ron Pair Enters.</u>, 489 U.S. 235, 241 (1989). This Court continues to acknowledge the "separation of powers" issue in this context in

order to keep judicial interpretation from preempting legislative function. In <u>Florida Department of Revenue v.</u> <u>Florida Municipal Power Agency</u>, 789 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 2001), for example, the point is made that:

Even where a court is convinced that the Legislature really meant and intended something not expressed in the phraseology of the act, it will not deem itself authorized to depart from the plain meaning of the language which is free from ambiguity.

Id. at 323.

The lesson of <u>Donato</u> is clear. Despite what a court may determine in its own view to be a "better" view of the statute's meaning, judicial interpretation is inappropriate were language clear. Unfortunately, the Fifth District ignored this is principle and chose instead to analyze what it thought the legislature probably meant, or should have meant. Its analysis begins with a flawed concern that adopting BELLSOUTH's position would be unfair because "an only child who is 24 years old would be allowed a recovery period of one year, but an only child who is an adult child would be allowed a recovery period for life." (Slipsheet at 11-12) This point totally overlooks significance of a surviving spouse and that oversight is the key to understanding the Fifth District's substance.

"Minor" is a separately defined term which has contextual significance in § 768.21(3). In plain English, the legislature

has decided -- for better or worse -- that a minor always recovers whether or not there is a surviving spouse. children may only recover, however, when there is no surviving No legislative justification is needed to sustain this interpretation. But if one were needed to support the legislature's decision to limit a minor's recovery when there is a surviving spouse, it can be found in the general principle that "[olnce child reaches the of majority, а age metamorphosis occurs and such child attains the privileges and responsibilities of an adult citizen." See Ellis v. Golconda Corp., 352 So. 2d 1221, 1227 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (emphasis added).

That there was a surviving spouse in this case is more than an incidental fact, but apparently its significance was lost on the Fifth District. Indeed the parties themselves stipulated that because Mrs. Meeks survived her husband, the decedent's adult daughter had no right to recover, so there was no legal or factual basis for the Fifth District to compare the relative equities of an adult child's measure of recovery with a minor child's measure. In this case, the court was searching for excuses to justify the application of a new meaning which it had no right to do. See 48A Fla. Jur. 2d Statutes § 110; see also, Modder v. Am. Nat'l Life Ins. Co. of Texas, 688 So. 2d 330, 333 (Fla. 1997) (where language of statute is clear, court is not

permitted to resort to rules of statutory construction); Zuckerman v. Alter, 615 So. 2d 661, 663 (Fla. 1993) (legislature is deemed to have expressed its intent through words in statute; if clear, words must be construed in their plain and ordinary sense); Holly, supra, at 219 ("it is not the court's duty or prerogative to modify or shade clearly expressed legislative intent in order to uphold a policy favored by the court").

Had the legislature intended for the fortuitous event of minority to trigger a lifetime of recovery, it would have said so. The fact that it did not indicates a clear intent to prohibit such recovery. In fact, nothing in this record or in the wording of the statute even suggests, much less establishes, that the use of the word "minor" was in any sense meant to trigger a formula of lifetime recovery for anyone fortunate enough to be in a protected class at the time of the unfortunate circumstance of a parent's death. This very point was made in an analogous context in Cruz v. Broward County School Board, 800 So. 2d 213 (Fla. 2001) -- an informative decision which puts the issue before the court in proper perspective.

B. Cruz and the Narrow Scope of Consortium Recovery.

The issue in <u>Cruz</u> was a parent's right to recover for loss of consortium damages arising from a *minor child's* permanent disability. While <u>Cruz</u> dealt with the parents' recovery right, the case is instructive particularly because of the historical

underpinnings of consortium claims. At common law, the parents' right was narrowly tailored to permit only a father to recover. mother had no right of action unless the child illegitimate or she had become entitled to the minor child's services through the death of the father or a decree awarding W. Prosser & W. Keeton, The Law of Torts § 125 at 935 custody. 1984). In Florida, the scope of recovery has been expanded by statute, but since the statutory right derogation of the common law, the statutes are necessarily construed in a narrow fashion. Cruz makes this point clear.6

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