IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. SC02-1033

BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

5DCA CASE NO. 5D01-1805

LINDA MEEKS, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF HERBERT J. MEEKS, DECEASED,

Respondent.

/

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

AVOLIO & HANLON, P.C. Robert P. Avolio, Esq. Florida Bar No. 72486 Tracy L. Markham, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0040126 2730 U.S. 1 South, Suite J St. Augustine, FL 32086 904.794.7005 Attorneys for Respondent, Linda Meeks, Personal Representative of the Estate of Herbert J. Meeks, Deceased

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

The Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly held that under Florida's Wrongful Death Act a minor child can recover throughout his life for the loss of parental companionship, as well as pain and suffering. (Slipsheet at 8). As the Appellate Court noted, the interpretation of this section of the current Wrongful Death Act with respect to this issue is one of first impression. (Slipsheet at 8). However, at least one other appellate court, the Third District Court of Appeal, in Stresscon International, Inc. v. Helms, 390 So. 2d 139 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) tangentially addressed the issue, indicating that based upon the clear statutory mandate, it would reach the same result as the Fifth District in the case *sub judice*. (Slipsheet at 9, citing Stresscon, 390 So. 2d at 141 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980)). 13

24

Most earlier cases interpreting the Wrongful Death Statute have little, or no, precedential value, as they are interpreting versions of the Wrongful Death Statute which were not in place at the time of Mr. Meeks' death. <u>Cinghina v. Racik</u>, 647

In its statutory analysis, the Fifth District Court was mindful of the legislature's intent when enacting the Wrongful Death Act, noting it was "remedial and shall be liberally construed." (Slipsheet at 8, citing Fla. Stat. §768.17; see also, Golf Channel v. Jenkins, 752 So. 2d 561, 565-56 (Fla. 2000)). This Court, in Golf Channel v. Jenkins, in its analysis of a remedial whistle blower statute, provided a brief instruction as to when it is appropriate for a court to interpret statutory provisions. Golf Channel v. Jenkins, 752 So. 2d 561, 564 (2000). The first principle of statutory construction is that legislative intent must be determined primarily from the language of the statute itself. Golf Channel, 752 So. 2d at 564; (citing McLaughlin v. State, 721 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Fla. 1998); St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982)). Where the statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no need for

So. 2d 289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), provides a helpful discussion of the prior statutes and the revisions they have undergone, in arriving at the current compensatory scheme. <u>Id</u>. at 290.

Erosion Control Dist., 604 So. 2d 452, 454 (Fla. 1992)). Where, however, related statutes which must be read together create an ambiguity, statutory construction is required. Golf Channel, 752 So. 2d at 564. As this Court went on to note "[i]f from a view of the whole law, or from other laws *pari materia*, the evident intent is different from the literal import of the terms employed to express it in a particular part of the law, that intent should prevail, for that, is in fact the will of the Legislature." Id. at 564 (citing Forsythe, 604 So. 2d 452, 454) (quoting Van Pelt v. Hilliard, 75 Fla. 792, 799, 78 So. 693, 695 (1918)). Moreover, where language in a statute is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation, it is necessary to resort to principles of statutory construction. Rollins v. Pizzarelli, 761 So. 2d 294, 297-98 (Fla. 2000) (citing Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control Dist., 604 So. 2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1992)).

In its analysis of the statute, the Fifth District began with the clear statutory language as required under sound canons of statutory construction. (Slipsheet at 9). The term "survivor" is defined under the Wrongful Death Statute to include the decedent's spouse, children, parents, and blood relatives, as well as adoptive brothers and sisters when dependent upon the decedent for support and services. Fla. Stat. \\$768.18(1) (1997). All of the deceased's children are thereby considered "survivors" under the Wrongful Death Act in accord with \\$768.18. Fla. Stat. \\$768.18(1) (1997) (Slipsheet at 9). "Minor children" are specifically defined as children "under 25 years of age, notwithstanding the age of majority." Fla. Stat. \\$768.18(2) (1997) (Slipsheet at 9). Kevin Meeks, born December 6, 1973, is unquestionably a "minor child" under Florida's Wrongful Death Act inasmuch as he was under the age of 25 at the time of his father's death. (R VII:1251).

The types of damages recoverable by each category of survivor are set forth in §768.21, which provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(1) Each survivor may recover the value of lost support and services from the date of the decedent's injury to his death, with interest, and future loss of support and services from the date of death and reduced to present value. In evaluating loss of support and services, the survivor's relationship to the decedent, the amount of the decedent's probable net income available for distribution to the particular survivor, and the replacement value of the decedent's services to the survivor may be considered. In computing the duration of future losses, the joint life expectancies of the survivor and the decedent and the period of minority, in the case of healthy minor children, may be considered.

. . . .

- (3) Minor children of the decedent, and all children of the decedent if there is no surviving spouse, may also recover for lost parental companionship, instruction, and guidance and for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury.
- (4) Each parent of a deceased minor child may also recover for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury. Each parent of an adult child may also recover for mental pain and suffering if there are no other survivors.

Fla. Stat. §768.21(1), (3) and (4) (1997).

As the Fifth District Court found, \$728.21(3) provides a starting date, "from the date of injury", as to the commencement of a minor's claim for lost parental companionship, instruction, and guidance and for mental pain and suffering. (Slipsheet at 9). However, \$768.21(3) provides no ending date for this category of damages. (Slipsheet at 9).

With respect to purely economic damages, including support and services, the period of minority of a healthy minor child is one of several relevant factors that the legislature mandated were to be considered by the trier of fact in determining the amount of damages. See Fla. Stat. §768.21(1) (1997). Even under subsection 1, however, there is no indication that the legislature intended that the damages for the loss of support and services end the day a minor child reaches the age of 25, rather, the

legislature intended that jurors consider the period of minority as one factor, as it pertains to economic damages.

However, insofar as it relates to mental pain and suffering under subsection 3 of the statute, there is absolutely no statutory mandate that the age of majority be considered at all. See Fla. Stat. \$768.21(3) (1997). The fact that even adult children have a lost parental consortium claim in the event there is no surviving spouse demonstrates that the legislature recognized that the loss of parental consortium for any minor child continues well into the future. If the legislature intended that a minor child's lost parental consortium claim, after it was vested, would end at a particular point, they could easily have put in a limiting time period, as they did in subsection 1. (Slipsheet at 13). See Fla. Stat. \$768.21(1) and (3) (1997). The District Court correctly interpreted the age limitation as intended by the legislature, merely as a qualifying factor which permits a minor child to claim this category of damages, and once established, to allow recovery over the lifetime of the child, with consideration of the deceased parent's life expectancy had the death not occurred. (Slipsheet at 14).

In reaching its decision, the Fifth District Court further noted the jury instruction to be given in this regard, Florida Standard Jury Instruction, 6.6 (g) was instructive. (Slipsheet at 10). It provides as follows:

Wrongful Death Damages Recoverable for Estate and Survivors-Elements

* * * *

6.6(g)

The loss by [name of all eligible children] of parental companionship, instruction, and guidance, and [his][her][their] mental pain and suffering as a result of the decedent's injury and death. In determining the duration of such losses, you may consider the [joint life expectancy of the decedent and [the surviving child] [each of the surviving children]] [life expectancy of [the surviving child] [each of the surviving children]] together with

all the other evidence in the case. See Slipsheet at 10, Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Civ.) 6.6(g).

The Fifth District further found the committee notes persuasive. (Slipsheet at 10). The committee notes indicate that 6.6(g) was revised in 1987 to recognize that "joint life expectancy" is not proscribed by §768.21 (3) as the only measure of a child's future loss, and that the evidence may support a finding of longer or shorter duration. (Slipsheet at 10); see also In Re Standard Jury Instructions Civil Cases, 522 So. 2d 364, 368 (Fla. 1988).

BellSouth's argument that the standard jury instruction promulgated by this Court is not persuasive because it predates legislative changes in 1990 is disingenuine. (Merits Brief at 11, ftnt 5). The enactment of the amendment in 1990 to §768.21(3) did not effect the Fifth District's analysis as the amendment merely increased the right to recovery of a parental consortium loss to include adult children in the event of no surviving spouse, but did absolutely nothing to change or modify the definitions or recovery rights concerning "minor children" as defined in the Act. See 1990 Fla. Laws Ch. 14, §768.18.; See also Mizrahi v. North Miami Medical Center, LTD., 761 So. 2d 1040, 1042 (Fla. 2000) (citations omitted).

Although the Florida Supreme Court did not directly address the issue at hand, this Court has allowed minor children to recover for the loss of parental companionship, instruction, and guidance and for mental pain and suffering, without limiting damages under § 768.21(3) to only those periods of time prior to the minor child turning 25 years of age. See e.g. Angrand v. Key, 657 So.2d 1146 (Fla. 1995). The Third District Court of Appeal briefly addressed the current issue in Stresscon International, Inc. v. Helms, 390 So. 2d 139 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), which the Fifth District also mentions as illustrative. (Slipsheet at 9). In addition to challenging the verdict for being excessive, the defendant in Stresscon

argued that the jury should not have been allowed to award damages for pain and suffering to the surviving children computed over the joint life expectancies of the children and father. <u>Id.</u> at 141. The defendant urged that the damages under §768.21 (3) were allowable only if computed over the children's remaining period of minority. <u>Id</u>. Although the Third District stopped short of a full blown analysis, it did note that the statutory language did not support this view. <u>Id</u>.

The Fifth District also considered the interpretation that other courts have given to the statutory language instructing that damages were to run "from the date of injury." (Slipsheet at 12); Fla. Stat. §768.21 (3) (1997). Both subsection (4) and subsection (3), of Florida Statute §768.21, have identical language indicating that damage awards were to run "from the date of injury". (Slipsheet at 12); Fla. Stat. §768.21 (3) and (4) (1997). Subsection (4) of Florida Statute §728.21 mandates that "[e]ach parent of a deceased minor child may also recover for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury." Fla. Stat. §768.21 (4) (1997) (emphasis added); (Slipsheet at 12). In Gross Builders Inc. v. Powell, 441 So. 2d 1142 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), which reviewed the meaning of the "from the date of injury" language when construing a parent's recovery for the loss of a minor child, the Second District queried whether a jury should consider a parent's mental pain and suffering for the loss of a minor child over their joint life expectancies, rather than the period of the child's minority. <u>Id</u>. at 1143-44. The Second District held that the jury should consider the joint life expectancies of both the children and decedent, not the children's period of minority. Id. at 1144. See also Roberts v. Holloway, 581 So. 2d 619 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). Finding the opinions in Stresscon supra, and Gross Builders, in agreement, the Fifth District construed §768.21(3) together with the other sections of the wrongful death statute so as to bring each of them into harmony with one another. (Slipsheet at 11).

If BellSouth's argument that the Fifth District Court of Appeal's analysis of the statute was inappropriate due to the "clear" language contained therein were correct, it would mean that the majority of Florida's appellate courts (the Second, Third, and Fifth Districts) are unable to recognize "clear" language. (Merits Brief at 13). The three appellate courts who have addressed the statute disagree with the interpretation espoused by BellSouth. (Slipsheet at 9); Stresscon International, Inc. v. Helms, 390 So. 2d 139, 141; Gross Builders, Inc., 441 So. 2d at 1143-44. Conversely, to ascribe to the view espoused by BellSouth would require one of two absurd results. Under the view previously espoused by BellSouth in front of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, it would require a minor child's claim be limited to the period of minority while an adult child would be entitled to recover for the entire period of his or her lifetime. (Slipsheet at 11). This would be true even if they were in the same family, assuming there was no surviving spouse. To adopt the current view promoted by BellSouth, this Court would be forced to ignore the clear language of the statute, as well as the language in the related statutes, manufacturing an ending date for a minor's loss of parental consortium claim which is not there and which the legislature did not intend to place in §768.21(3).

BellSouth's reliance on <u>Cruz v. Broward County School Board</u>, 800 So. 2d 213 (Fla. 2001) is perplexing. <u>Cruz</u> involved a claim for a loss of filial consortium, where the child was disabled, and had nothing to do with the wrongful death statute. (Merits Brief at 16). Similarly, BellSouth's reference to <u>Mizarahi v. N. Miami Med. Center, Ltd.</u>, 761 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2000) is misplaced, since there, this Court was considering an equal protection challenge to the language of §768.21 (8) which prohibited adult children from recovering in a wrongful death action stemming solely from medical practice. <u>Id.</u> at 1041. Ironically, what <u>Mizarahi</u> does make clear, is that the Legislature will limit the right to recovery

with unequivocal statutory language when it intends to do so.

If BellSouth's interpretation of the statute were to prevail, it would dramatically alter Florida's Wrongful Death Act. From this day forward, the claims of minor children would have dramatically less value than those of an adult child. As the Fifth District noted,

"[W]e find nothing in the record or in the law to indicate that the broken heart of a minor child caused by the grievous loss of a parent heals any faster than the broken heart of an adult child, or of a spouse who mourns the loss of a husband or wife. Moreover, we find no basis in the provisions of §768.21(3) that requires disparate treatment of minor children, adult children, or spouses who seek damages for mental pain and suffering for the loss of a loved one. We conclude, therefore, that damages recovered by a minor child pursuant to §768.21(3) should be calculated based on the joint life expectancy of both the deceased parent and the child. Thus in the instant case, unobstructed by age limitations, the jury will have the ability to view through the prism of their life experiences the full measure of recompense due a son for the loss of his father."

(Slipsheet at 13-14).

Applying BellSouth's interpretation would not only impose an illogical new limitation under Florida Statute §768.21(3), which is not currently present, nor intended by the legislature, but it would mean that Florida's current Jury Instruction Guide is a nullity, because there is no such limiting instruction in the Florida Standard Jury Guides in civil cases.

The Wrongful Death Act, as correctly interpreted by the Fifth District, makes clear that once a minor child's recovery right vests for the loss of parental companionship as well as pain and suffering, it continues throughout the child's life. In the event that this Court decides to accept this case, the Court is urged to uphold the decision of the Fifth District.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE JURISDICTION OVER THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ISSUE AS IT IS OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THE CERTIFIED QUESTION

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